FILED 12-03-2020 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

# STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2020AP475

In the Matter of the Refusal of Jack Ray Zimmerman, Jr.: STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

-VS-

JACK RAY ZIMMERMAN, JR.,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

APPEALED FROM A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS DATED NOVEMBER 4, 2020, AFFIRMING AN ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WASHINGTON COUNTY, BRANCH II, THE HONORABLE JAMES K. MUEHLBAUER PRESIDING, TRIAL COURT CASE NO. 19-TR-2191

## **BRIEF & APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT**

### MELOWSKI & ASSOCIATES, LLC

Dennis M. Melowski State Bar No. 1021187

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

WHETHER THE LEGISLATURE INTENDED VIOLATIONS OF WIS. STAT. §§ 940.09 & 940.25(1) WHICH PRE-DATE JANUARY 1, 1989 TO BE USED AS PENALTY ENHANCERS IN THE PROSECUTION OF ALCOHOL-RELATED DRIVING OFFENSES?

<u>Trial Court Answered</u>: YES. The circuit court concluded that the addition of the "lifetime plus" language<sup>1</sup> which was added to Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(am)<sup>2</sup> was unambiguous on its face regardless of the fact that prior amendments to the law had precluded the counting of violations which occurred prior to January 1, 1989. R24 at pp. 3-6; P-App. at 104-06.

<u>Court of Appeals Answered</u>: YES. P-App. at 112-16. The court of appeals determined that the language of the counting provision was plain on its face and therefore was not subject to further interpretation. P-App. at 114-15.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Zimmerman was charged in Washington County with both Operating a Motor Vehicle While Under the Influence of an Intoxicant—Third Offense, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a), and Unlawfully Refusing to Submit to an Implied Consent Test, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 343.305(9)(a), arising out of an incident which occurred on July 10, 2019. R1; R13 at ¶ 2.

<sup>&</sup>quot;Lifetime plus" is the shorthand nomenclature used by the lower court to refer to the language in, for example, § 346.65(2)(am) which provides in pertinent part that the counting of prior offenses for purposes of penalty enhancement shall count "convictions under ss. 940.09(1) and 940.25(1) in a person's lifetime, plus the total number of . . . convictions counted under s. 343.307(1)."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>At the time this provision of the statutes was affected by 1999 Wis. Act 109, it was numbered as § 346.65(2)(b). It has since been renumbered as § 346.65(2)(am). Subsection (2)(am) is the reference Mr. Zimmerman will use throughout this Petition because it represents the current incarnation of the law and because the renumbering has no substantive effect on the nature of the issue.

Case 2020AP000475 Petition for Review Filed 12-03-2020 Page 8 of 24

Mr. Zimmerman retained private counsel and subsequently filed a request for a refusal hearing. R5. A hearing on the lawfulness of Mr. Zimmerman's refusal was held on September 26, 2019, before the Circuit Court for Washington County, the Honorable James K. Muehlbauer presiding. R9; R35.

Deputy Joseph Conery, the arresting officer in the instant matter, was the single witness called to testify on behalf of the State. R35 at pp. 3-21. At the conclusion of the evidentiary portion of the hearing, counsel for Mr. Zimmerman made two legal arguments, including, *inter alia*: (1) Mr. Zimmerman's prior convictions for violations of §§ 940.09 & 940.25(1) should not have been counted as penalty enhancers in his case because they occurred prior to January 1, 1989; and (2) Mr. Zimmerman was misinformed by the arresting officer that he would be prosecuted as a third offender, which misinformation adversely impacted his right to make an informed decision regarding whether he should submit to implied consent testing. R13; R19; R23.

The circuit court rejected both of Mr. Zimmerman's arguments, and by Conviction Status Report dated February 4, 2020, ordered Mr. Zimmerman's operating privilege revoked for a period of three (3) years. R25; P-App. at 101.

It is from that adverse judgment that Mr. Zimmerman appealed his case by Notice filed March 10, 2020. R32. On November 4, 2020, a one-judge panel of the court of appeals affirmed the decision of the lower court holding that the language in § 346.65(2)(am) was plain on its face. P-App. at 112-16.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On July 10, 2019, the above-named Petitioner, Jack Zimmerman, was operating his motor vehicle in Washington County when Deputy Thomas Conery of the Washington County Sheriff's Office received a report of a vehicle which had been "swerving." R35 at 18:7-12. After receiving a specific license plate number, Deputy Conery learned that the registered owner, Mr. Zimmerman,

Case 2020AP000475 Petition for Review Filed 12-03-2020 Page 9 of 24

had a revoked operating privilege. R35 at 19:1-3. Deputy Conery caught up to Mr. Zimmerman's vehicle and initiated a traffic stop. R35 at 21:23 to 23:23.

After making contact with Mr. Zimmerman, Deputy Conery observed that he had bloodshot eyes and slurred speech. R35 at 25:1-14. Based upon this information, Deputy Conery asked Mr. Zimmerman to perform field sobriety tests, to which request Mr. Zimmerman consented. R35 at 28:4-6; 30:5-8. Mr. Zimmerman allegedly failed the standardized battery of field sobriety tests. R35 at 34:12-20.

Upon failing the field sobriety tests, Deputy Conery placed Mr. Zimmerman under arrest for Operating a Motor Vehicle While Under the Influence of an Intoxicant, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a). R35 at 34:21-23. At the time he took Mr. Zimmerman into custody, Deputy Conery informed Mr. Zimmerman that this was his "third offense" for operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated. R35 at 50:11-18.

Once seated in the rear of the deputy's squad, Deputy Conery read the Informing the Accused form [hereinafter "ITAF"] to Mr. Zimmerman and asked him whether he would be willing to submit to an evidentiary chemical test of his breath. R35 at 35:10-14; 37:4-8. Mr. Zimmerman responded "No" to the deputy's question. R35 at 37:9-13. Mr. Zimmerman was then issued a Notice of Intent to Revoke Operating Privilege. R1.

Mr. Zimmerman requested a hearing on the lawfulness of his refusal, and a hearing was held on September 26, 2019, before the Circuit Court for Washington County, the Honorable James K. Muehlbauer presiding. R9; R35. Mr. Zimmerman raised the issues as described in the Statement of the Case, *supra*, and the circuit court ultimately found his refusal unreasonable and ordered his operating privilege revoked for a period of three years. R25; P-App. at 101.

### STANDARD OF REVIEW ON APPEAL

The question presented to this Court concerns whether convictions for violations of §§ 940.09 & 940.25(1) which occurred prior to January 1, 1989 may permissibly be counted as penalty enhancers under §§ 346.65 & 343.307(1) in a prosecution for either operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated or for improperly refusing to submit to a chemical test. Questions relating to the application of statutory law to an undisputed set of facts are reviewed by this Court de novo. Lands' End. Inc. v. City of Dodgeville, 2014 WI App 71, ¶ 52, 354 Wis. 2d 623, 848 N.W.2d 904; State v. Wilke, 152 Wis. 2d 243, 247, 448 N.W.2d 13 (Ct. App. 1989).

STATEMENT OF CRITERIA TO SUPPORT PETITION FOR REVIEW UNDER WIS. STATS. § 809.62(1r)(a), (1r)(c)2., (1r)(c)3., & (1r)(d).

> 1. Section 809.62(1r)(a): This Case Presents a Real and Significant Question of Constitutional Law.

Review should be granted in the instant case because it implicates concepts of constitutional due process "notice." As more fully set forth below, Mr. Zimmerman proffers that there is a genuine ambiguity in the law with respect to which prior convictions for violations of §§ 940.09 & 940.25(1) ought to be counted as penalty enhancers in impaired driving cases. More specifically, a question arises as to whether all convictions within a person's "lifetime" ought to be counted or, alternatively, whether the counting of lifetime convictions begins with those convictions arising after January 1, 1989. See Section I.A. & B., infra. Since the law is not clear on this matter, a suspect at the time of his or her arrest cannot reasonably divine whether any prior violations of §§ 940.09 & 940.25(1) occurring before January 1, 1989 will be counted against them. In essence, the accused has not properly been placed on "notice" of what the law does or does not forbid in violation of both the United States and Wisconsin Constitutions

Constitutional "notice" is rooted in the Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment. United States v. Williams, 553 U.S. 285, 304

Case 2020AP000475 Petition for Review Filed 12-03-2020 Page 11 of 24

(2007). Because deprivations of life or liberty may result from the failure to satisfy the concept of notice, the Supreme Court has held that the Fourteenth Amendment is implicated as well in circumstances where a legislature has failed to give notice to the public regarding a change in the law. See generally, Giaccio v. Pennsylvania, 382 U.S. 399, 403 (1966). In describing the due process requirement of "notice," the United States Supreme Court has observed:

No one may be required at peril of life, liberty or property to speculate as to the meaning of penal statutes. All are entitled to be informed as to what the State commands or forbids.

Lanzetta v. New Jersey, 306 U.S. 451, 444 (1939)(emphasis added). If the foregoing holding is to have any meaning, the very fact that the Parties in this case are arguing over whether the legislature did or did not intend to count violations of §§ 940.01(1) & 940.25 which occurred before January 1, 1989 means that the Parties are "speculat[ing] as to the meaning of a penal statute." If this is so, then the notion of constitutional due process notice has not been satisfied, and this Court is obligated to act under § 809.62(1r)(a) because Mr. Zimmerman presents a "real and significant question" of constitutional law.

# 2. Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r)(c)2.: The Question Presented Is a Novel One Which Will Have Statewide Impact.

There exist no decisions of this Court or the court of appeals which address the issue presented herein, namely: Whether the "lifetime" counting of convictions for violations of §§ 940.09 & 940.25(1) includes those violations which occurred prior to January 1, 1989? The issue presented is therefore, by definition, "novel" and satisfies the criterion set forth in § 809.62(1r)(c)2... Similarly, there are no common law decisions on remotely tangential issues which provide guidance regarding how to approach the question presented, or establish a standard for determining the answer, or describe elements which should be considered when assessing "counting periods," etc.

Page 12 of 24

Doubtless, a decision of this Court will have statewide impact as nearly 29,000 individuals per year are arrested in Wisconsin for operating while intoxicated violations according to Department of Transportation statistics.<sup>3</sup> These cases arise in all seventy-two Wisconsin counties, and a full thirty-three percent of the same are violations which are enhanced by some prior offense (albeit not necessarily a violation of either § 940.09 and/or § 940.25(1)). Clearly, § 809.62(1r)(c)2. is satisfied with respect to the issue presented having statewide impact.

# 3. Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r)(c)2.: The Question Presented Is Likely to Recur Unless This Court Intervenes.

The question presented by Mr. Zimmerman is likely to recur based upon the statistics set forth above. With 29,000 operating while intoxicated arrests occurring annually, there undoubtedly will be those cases in which the accused has a prior violation for an offense under either § 940.09 and/or § 940.25(1) which occurred prior to January 1, 1989. Given that the issue, as framed by Mr. Zimmerman, implicates constitutional notions of due process, it is not one which defense counsel will likely "toss aside" in favor of raising other issues in a particular defendant's case. Rather, the gravity and pervasiveness of the issue compels its being raised in the defense of the relevant client lest counsel subject their representation to "ineffectiveness" scrutiny under Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). Given the unpleasantness of Strickland inquiries, counsel will certainly err on the side of raising these issues unless this Court first intervenes in Mr. Zimmerman's case to answer the question presented definitively.

Unless this Court intervenes to establish a clear boundary for the counting of prior violations, courts throughout Wisconsin will interpose their own local interpretations which is not conducive to harmonizing the law as discussed below. Moreover, disparate treatment of similarly situated defendants will occur throughout the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>See https://wisconsindot.gov/Pages/safety/education/drunk-drv/ddarrests.aspx. The statistics for alcohol-related offenses cited herein are from 2015, the most recent year for which the DOT has the same compiled.

Case 2020AP000475 Petition for Review Filed 12-03-2020 Page 13 of 24

State as some circuit courts will exclude counting violations prior to January 1, 1989, while other courts will end up counting these violations. Because it is patently unfair for a defendant in the first type of jurisdiction to be treated so differently from a person in the latter type of jurisdiction, this Court should intervene to provide direction to courts throughout this State under § 809.62(1r)(c)2...

4. Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r)(d): The Court of Appeals Decision Is Seemingly in Conflict With State ex rel. Sauk Cty. Dist. Attorney v. Gollmar, 32 Wis. 2d 406, 145 N.W.2d 670 (1966), and Pattermann v. Whitewater, 32 Wis. 2d 350, 145 N.W.2d 705 (1966).

Pursuant to § 809.62(1r)(d), justification for the granting of review may be made in those instances in which a decision of the court of appeals is in conflict with decisions of other courts of supervisory jurisdiction. While the Petitioner must concede that it may not appear at first blush that the court of appeals' decision in Mr. Zimmerman's case is in *direct* conflict with the decisions in cases such as *State ex rel. Sauk Cty. Dist. Attorney v. Gollmar*, 32 Wis. 2d 406, 145 N.W.2d 670 (1966), *Pattermann v. Whitewater*, 32 Wis. 2d 350, 145 N.W.2d 705 (1966), and *Kienbaum v. Haberny*, 273 Wis. 413, 78 N.W.2d 888 (1956), closer scrutiny does reveal that the court of appeals' holding may very well conflict with the doctrine established in these cases as more fully described in Section I.B., *infra*.

The Gollmar, Patterman, and Kienbaum decisions all establish that that repeals of law by implication are not favored when disposing of legal issues relating to statutory enactments. Gollmar, 32 Wis. 2d at 412. That is, common law decisions ought not "read language out" of a statute. In this case, as Mr. Zimmerman argues below, a decision which ignores the language set forth in § 9348(2f) of 1997 Wis. Act 237, effectively eviscerates the legislatively-imposed counting scheme for prior violations of §§ 940.09 & 940.25(1) or, put another way, "repeals the law by implication"—a disposition not favored under Gollmar, Pattermann, and Kienbaum. As such, it appears that, at some level, the granting of Mr. Zimmerman's Petition is appropriate under § 809.62(1r)(d).

Case 2020AP000475 Petition for Review Filed 12-03-2020 Page 14 of 24

### **ARGUMENT**

I. CONVICTIONS FOR VIOLATIONS OF WIS. STAT. §§ 940.09(1) & 940.25(1) WHICH OCCURRED PRIOR TO JANUARY 1, 1989 WERE NOT INTENDED TO BE COUNTED AS PENALTY ENHANCERS IN OPERATING WHILE INTOXICATED RELATED CASES.

## A. Framing the Issue Raised Herein.

The Wisconsin statute dealing with the counting of prior convictions under the penalty-enhancement provision applicable herein is § 346.65(2)(am). This section provides in pertinent part that violations which are counted under § 343.307(1)(a) shall include convictions for violations of §§ 940.25(1)(1) and 940.09(1) "in the person's lifetime." Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(am)3. (2019-20). The "lifetime" counting of convictions for violations of §§ 940.25(1)(a) and 940.09(1) was first introduced into the language of § 346.65(2)(am) by 1999 Wis. Act 109, §§ 43-46 [hereinafter "Act 109"].

It is Mr. Zimmerman's position that the notion of "lifetime" counting described in Act 109, however, did not actually include the accused's entire natural life. Earlier legislation, in the form of 1997 Wis. Act 237, provided a date before which violations under § 346.65(2)(am) could not be counted. See 1997 Wis. Act 237, § 9348(2f)[hereinafter "Act 237"]; P-App. at 110.

Section 9348(2f) of Act 237, entitled "Counting of Offenses," provided in pertinent part that "[t]he treatment of sections . . . 346.65(2)(am)(b), (c), (d) and (e) . . . of the statutes . . . preclude[s] the counting offenses that occurred before January 1, 1989, as prior convictions, suspensions or revocations." *Id*. (emphasis added). It should not be lost on this Court that § 9348(2f) of Act 237 expressly and specifically included affirmative language that the counting of offenses prior to January 1, 1989 under § 346.65(2)(am)—the statute at issue herein—was precluded.

Case 2020AP000475 Petition for Review Filed 12-03-2020 Page 15 of 24

As noted above, the subsequent Act 109 added language to the penalty provision of § 346.65(2)(am) which included "lifetime" counting of violations for §§ 940.09(1) & 940.25(1). Notably, however, Act 109 never expressly changed the rule regarding the counting of convictions for violations which occurred prior to January 1, 1989 as set forth in § 9348(2f) of Act 237. The notion set forth in § 9348(2f) remains unmolested by Act 109 and fully applicable herein. That is, the counting of alcohol-related driving offenses involving death or great bodily harm was to include offenses from the accused's entire "lifetime" beginning with those offense that occurred after January 1, 1989. This interpretation is the only interpretation of the law which leaves § 9348(2f) of Act 237 and the "lifetime counting" provision of the substantive penalty-enhancer statute both unmolested. Interpreting the "lifetime" penalty enhancer provision as the court of appeals' decision does "repeals § 9348(2f) by implication"—a resolution which is *not* favored.

## B. The Language Precluding Counting of Offenses Which Occurred Prior to January 1, 1989 Was Never Amended or Redacted.

If the legislature made the effort and took the responsibility to clearly express in § 9348(2f) of Act 237 when the look-back period was to begin for counting penalty-enhancing offenses, then why would it not do the same thing in Act 109 if it intended there to be a change in the way prior felony offenses under §§ 940.09(1) & 940.25 were to be counted? What sense does it make for a legislature in one Act to very plainly state when a look-back period begins, but when changing that very period, *fail to express the change in the Act modifying the original period*? This is an inexplicable logical inconsistency which can only be resolved if one takes the approach that the subsequent Act was never intended to modify the original.

There is no enabling language in Act 109 which gives rise to an interpretation that suddenly the language in § 9348(2f) is to be disregarded. Mr. Zimmerman, however, can point directly to enabling language in the Act which he proffers as providing the correct interpretation of the law, namely § 9348(2f). Section 9348(2f) is unambiguous. Mr. Zimmerman posits that the change in the law under Act 109 was nothing more than a clarification that

violations of §§ 940.09(1) & 940.25 were never intended to be included in the ten-year "restart" rule expressed in § 346.65(2)(am)2.,<sup>4</sup> but rather, were to be counted for the person's lifetime beginning with the date of January 1, 1989 expressly set forth in Act 237.

Page 16 of 24

The foregoing argument is consistent with the principle set forth in *State ex rel. Sauk Cty. Dist. Attorney v. Gollmar*, 32 Wis. 2d 406, 145 N.W.2d 670 (1966), and its predecessor cases which hold that repeals of law by implication *are not favored. Id.* at 412, citing *Pattermann v. Whitewater*, 32 Wis. 2d 350, 350, 145 N.W.2d 705 (1966).

Quoting Kienbaum v. Haberny, 273 Wis. 413, 78 N.W.2d 888 (1956), the Gollmar court stated that "[t]he doctrine of implied repeal is not favored, and an earlier act will be considered to remain in force unless it is so manifestly inconsistent and repugnant to the later act that they cannot reasonably stand together." Gollmar, 32 Wis. 2d at 413, quoting Kienbaum, 273 Wis. at 420. The requirement that the party moving to disregard a portion of a prior enactment establish manifest inconsistency and repugnance to the later act is indeed a very high burden and evidence of the strength of the presumption that the doctrine of implied repeal is not favored.

The *Kienbaum* court observed that when two acts of the legislature can stand together, they are not manifestly repugnant to one another. *Kienbaum*, 273 Wis. at 421. Such is the case between § 9348(2f) of 1997 Wis. Act 237—the provision of the law which excludes the counting of offenses which occurred prior to January 1, 1989—and the later Act 109 which created the "lifetime" counting of prior violations of §§ 940.09(1) & 940.25(1) in that Mr. Zimmerman has offered this Court an analysis of the law which does harm to neither Act, unlike the court of appeals' decision which, frankly,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>This penalty provision provides that if an individual has one prior violation which would be counted under § 343.307(1), and that violation occurred more than ten years prior to the violation for which the individual is currently being prosecuted, it may not be counted as a penalty enhancer. Reference to this particular application of the penalty-enhancement rule, and its relevance to Mr. Zimmerman's position, is discussed in more detail in Section II., *infra*.

completely ignores this point of law. Nowhere within the four corners of the court of appeals' decision is there an examination of § 9348(2f) which describes, explains, or clarifies exactly how it can remain standing in light of the court's conclusion that the counting of offenses under §§ 940.09(1) & 940.25(1) ought to extend back before January 1, 1989.

Page 17 of 24

Act 109 *never expressly changed* the rule regarding counting of convictions for violations which occurred prior to January 1, 1989. The absence of any express change to the "starting date" for the counting of prior convictions makes perfect sense if one considers that violations of §§ 940.09(1) & 940.25 were never intended to be included in the ten-year "restart" rule expressed in § 346.65(2)(am)2.,<sup>5</sup> but rather, were to be counted for the person's lifetime beginning with the date of January 1, 1989.

Because the foregoing interpretation does no harm to any provision of either Act 237 or Act 109, and furthermore, because the court of appeals failed to demonstrate any manifest inconsistency and repugnance by interpreting the law in this fashion, this Court should conclude that Mr. Zimmerman's interpretation of the law is the correct one and grant his Petition.

- II. EVEN IF THIS COURT CONCLUDES THAT CONVICTIONS FOR VIOLATIONS OF §§ 940.09(1) & 940.25(1) WHICH OCCURRED PRIOR TO JANUARY 1, 1989 ARE TO BE COUNTED, AN AMBIGUITY EXISTS WHICH MUST BE RESOLVED IN FAVOR OF THE DEFENDANT UNDER THE RULE OF LENITY.
  - A. Mr. Zimmerman's Interpretation of the Law Is "Reasonably Possible."

There is an adage which is regularly drilled into the psyche of every first year law student which was generally popularized by the Philosopher of Law, Professor Chaïm Perelman, which states that

11

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Again, as a reminder, this penalty provision provides that if an individual has one prior violation which would be counted under § 343.307(1), and that violation occurred more than ten years prior to the violation for which the individual is currently being prosecuted, it may not be counted as a penalty enhancer.

when it comes to the interpretation of law, "reasonable minds will differ." C. Perelman, *Justice*, at p.96 (Random House 1967). As Prof. Perelman observed, if two interpretations are "reasonably possible," an ambiguity exists in the law. *Id.* at p.94. Mr. Zimmerman proffers that his interpretation of whether violations for convictions which occurred prior to January 1, 1989 is "reasonably possible," and because it is, an ambiguity exists in the law. This is an especially significant conclusion because it means that the Rule of Lenity should be applied to Mr. Zimmerman's case.

Before addressing the law as it relates to the Rule of Lenity, Mr. Zimmerman will further demonstrate how the issue with respect to whether the counting of prior convictions for violations of §§ 940.09(1) & 940.25(1) after January 1, 1989 under §§ 343.307(1) & 346.65(2)(am) is clouded by uncertainty.

The first notable fact which gives rise to reasonable minds differing with respect to the counting of prior convictions is the fact that Act 109 never expressly amended, changed, or rescinded the language in § 9348(2f) of Act 237.

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