RECEIVED
09-10-2020
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2020AP475

In the Matter of the Refusal of Jack Ray Zimmerman, Jr.:

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

JACK RAY ZIMMERMAN, JR,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT AND ORDER ENTERED IN WASHINGTON COUNTY CIRCIUT COURT, BRANCH II, THE HONORABLE JAMES K.
MUEHLBAUER, PRESIDING

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

ALYSSA M. SCHALLER Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1097936

Washington County District Attorney Post Office Box 1986 West Bend, WI 53090 (262) 335-4311 Alyssa.Schaller@da.wi.gov

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

ARGUMENT

I. THERE IS NO AMBIGUITY IN WIS. STAT 346.65(2)(AM) AS THE STATUTE CLEARLY STATES THAT THE NUMBER OF CONVICTIONS FOR VIOLATIONS OF WIS. STAT §940.09(1) & 940.25(1) MUST BE COUNTED FOR A PERSON'S LIFETIME.

Mr. Zimmerman alleges that the convictions for Homicide by OWI, contrary to section 940.09(1)(a), and Cause Great Bodily Harm by OVWI, contrary to section 940.25(1)(a), as reflected in the Judgment of Conviction for Racine County Circuit Court case number 88CF692, for an offense that occurred on November 12, 1988, is not a countable offense pursuant to section 346.65(2). Because the plain language of section 346.65(2)(am)2.-7. requires counting of all convictions under sections 940.09(1) and 940.25 in the person's lifetime, Mr. Zimmerman's argument is incorrect and he was correctly charges with Operating While Intoxicated as a Third Offense.

Common to the subsections of section 346.65(2) 2017-18 is the following language: "...if the number of convictions under Wis. Stat.§§ 940.09(1) and 940.25 in the person's lifetime, plus the total number of suspensions, revocations, and other convictions counted under section 343.307(1), equals...." When interpreting a statute, this court must start with the language of the statute. *State v. Dawson*, 195 Wis. 2d 161, 167, 536 N.W.2d 119, 121 (Ct. App. 1995). A plain reading of section 346.65(2) distinguishes convictions under section 940.09(1) and 940.25 from those counted under section 343.307(1). The statute also states clearly that 940.09(1) and 940.25 convictions must be counted for a subject's lifetime.

This interpretation is supported by the statutes and acts related to sections 343.307 and 346.65(2)(b)-(e), which are currently numbered as sections 346.65(2)(am)2.-7. The 1997-1998 version of section 346.65(2)(b)-(e)¹ makes no reference to

¹ 1997-1998 Wis. Stat. §346.65 (2) (b)-(e) reads as follows:

⁽b) Except as provided in par. (f), shall be fined not less than \$300 nor more than \$1,000 and imprisoned for not less than 5 days nor more than 6 months if the total number of suspensions, revocations and convictions counted under s. 343.307 (1) equals 2 within a 10-year period. Suspensions, revocations or convictions arising out of the same incident or occurrence shall be counted as one.

sections 940.09(1) or 940.25; rather, it prescribes a penalty based solely upon the number of offenses counted under section 343.307(1). 1997 Wis. Act 237, section 9348(2f), which was effective June 17, 1998, modified sections 346.65(2)(b)-(e) and restricted offenses countable under chapter 343 and sections 346.65(2)(b)-(e) to offenses that occurred on or after January 1, 1989. However, sections 346.65(2)(b)-(e) 1997-1998 did not make any reference to offenses in sections 940.09(1) or 940.25, and there is no reference to the word "lifetime" in 1997 Wis. Act 237 section 9348.

Thereafter, the legislature took direct and specific action to address the viability of counting convictions under sections 940.09(1) and 940.25. The legislature passed 1999 Wis. Act 109, which was effective May 18, 2000,³ in which sections 43-46 amended sections 346.65(2)(b)-(e) to include offenses counted under section 343.307 plus "the number of convictions under ss. 940.09(1) and 940.25 in the person's lifetime" (emphasis added). 1999 Wis. Act 109 added the offenses under sections 940.09(1) and 940.25 as countable offenses with a lifetime lookback period, therefore specifically distinguishing them from those enumerated in section 343.307(1).

In enacting 1999 WI Act 109, the legislature clearly delineated its intent to make convictions under sections 940.09(1) and 940.25 countable for a person's lifetime. Because

⁽c) Except as provided in par. (f), shall be fined not less than \$600 nor more than \$2,000 and imprisoned for not less than 30 days nor more than one year in the county jail if the total number of suspensions, revocations and convictions counted under s. 343.307 (1) equals 3, except that suspensions, revocations or convictions arising out of the same incident or occurrence shall be counted as one.

⁽d) Except as provided in par. (f), shall be fined not less than \$600 nor more than \$2,000 and imprisoned for not less than 60 days nor more than one year in the county jail if the total number of suspensions, revocations and convictions counted under s. 343.307 (1) equals 4, except that suspensions, revocations or convictions arising out of the same incident or occurrence shall be counted as one.

⁽e) Except as provided in par. (f), shall be fined not less than \$600 nor more than \$2,000 and imprisoned for not less than 6 months nor more than 5 years if the total number of suspensions, revocations and convictions counted under s. 343.307 (1) equals 5 or more, except that suspen

² "Every act and every portion of an act enacted by the legislature over the governor's partial veto which does not expressly prescribe the time when it takes effect shall take effect on the day after its date of publication." Wis. Stat. §991.11 (2017-18). 1997 Wisconsin Act 237 has a date of publication of June 16, 1998. ³ *Id.* 1999 Wisconsin Act 109 has a date of publication of May 17, 2000.

that clear intent is reflected in the plain language of sections 346.65(2)(am)2.-7., the correct and only interpretation of the law is that the lookback period for predicate OWI offenses counted under section 343.307(1) is limited to those that occurred on or after January 1, 1989, and 940.09(1) and 940.25 convictions must be counted for a person's lifetime. Thus, the reading of the statute is unambiguous and Mr. Zimmerman was correctly charged with Operating While Intoxicated as a Third Offense.

II. MR. ZIMMERMAN WAS CORRECTLY ADVISED OF HIS OFFENSE LEVEL AT ARREST AND THAT DID NOT AFFECT HIS ABILITY TO MAKE A CHOICE ABOUT SUBMITTING TO A CHEMICAL TEST.

Mr. Zimmerman alleges that the convictions for Homicide by OWI, contrary to section 940.09(1)(a), and Cause Great Bodily Harm by OVWI, contrary to section 940.25(1)(a), as reflected in the Judgment of Conviction for Racine County Circuit Court case number 88CF692, for an offense that occurred on November 12, 1988, is not a countable offense pursuant to section 346.65(2). For the reasons outlined in the argument section above, the State believes that Deputy Conery correctly advised Mr. Zimmerman of the offense level and consequently there was no misleading information given to Mr. Zimmerman when he was asked to submit to a chemical test.

However, if the Court assumes for the sake of Mr. Zimmerman's position that Deputy Conery's statement at arrest is imputed to the information conveyed in complying with section 343.305(4) in reading the Informing the Accused Form, the three-prong *Quelle* inquiry governs the Court's analysis⁴.

⁴The Wisconsin Supreme Court clarified a series of decisions regarding the Implied Consent Law in *Washburn County v. Smith.* 2008 W1 23, 308 Wis. 2d 65, 746 N.W.2d 243. In *Smith*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court addressed, *inter alia*, the trial court's conclusions at a refusal hearing, pursuant to section 343.305(9)(a)5, that the Mr. Zimmerman improperly refused to submit to chemical testing. *Id.* In examining the caselaw to date regarding refusals, the court evaluated and then summarized a series of decisions to conclude that, in circumstances where a law enforcement officer fails to provide statutorily-required information to a Mr. Zimmerman—an omission—*Wilke* governs a court's decision-making process. *Id.* at ¶¶ 93, 94. However, in situations where a law enforcement officer provided information in addition to all the statutorily-required information under section

a. Quelle Analysis

The *Quelle* and *Ludwigson* courts set forth a three-prong test to evaluate an officer's compliance with the implied consent law in circumstances where an officer has provided information in excess of the statutory language of section 343.305(4):

- (1) Has the law enforcement officer not met or exceeded his or her duty under § 343.305(4) and 343.305(4m) to provide information to the accused driver;
 - (2) Is the lack or oversupply of information misleading;
- (3) Has the failure to properly inform the driver affected his or her ability to make the choice about chemical testing?

State v. Ludwigson, 212 Wis. 2d 871, 875, (Ct. App. 1997).

b. Has the Law Enforcement Officer Not Met, or Exceeded His or Her Duty Under § 343.305(4) and 343.305(4m) to Provide Information to the Accused Driver?

Here, it is undisputed that Deputy Conery complied with section 343.305(4) by reading the statutory language verbatim. The issue before the Court is whether Deputy Conery's statement regarding offense of arrest at the time of arrest was misleading information that affected Mr. Zimmerman's ability to make an informed choice about chemical testing at the time the Informing the Accused Form was read, Mr. Zimmerman cites no authority for the premise that being (allegedly) misinformed of an OWI offense level at the time of arrest, but not at the time the Informing the Accused is read, is a statutory or constitutional violation. Rather, Mr. Zimmerman cites multiple cases that outline due process requirements in other contexts and analogizes those contexts to this facts pattern, arguing that Mr. Zimmerman acted under incorrect information because he was misinformed about "the level of offense he was facing. . . and its resulting consequences." Despite Mr. Zimmerman's efforts, these analogies fail because Mr. Zimmerman was neither misinformed about the level of the offense nor the resulting consequences. The State asserts this scenario is distinguishable

^{343.305(4)—}an addition—the three-prong *Quelle* inquiry as interpreted in *Ludwigson* governs a court's decision-making process. *Id.* at ¶ 72.

from *Quelle/Ludwingson*, however, for purposes of this argument assumes that the statement is considered excess information.

c. Is the Oversupply of Information Misleading?

A statement regarding the OWI offense level at the time of arrest is inconsequential to the content of the Informing the Accused form and is therefore not misleading information. The Informing the Accused form, which Deputy Conery read to Mr. Zimmerman verbatim, no additions and no omissions, advised Mr. Zimmerman of the following information related to penalties:

"If any test shows more alcohol in your system than the law permits while driving, your operating privilege will be suspended. If you refused to take any test that this agency requests, your operating privilege will be revoked and you will be subject to other penalties."

The evidence in the record indicates this is the information Deputy Conery conveyed to Mr. Zimmerman regarding the "penalties." Notably, Deputy Conery did not convey any of the specifics alleged by Mr. Zimmerman in his motion: maximum periods of incarceration; duration of license revocation; amount of fines. Certainly the information in the Informing the Accused form advised Mr. Zimmerman he faced suspension or revocation of his driving privilege and the potential for "other penalties," but nothing more specific. The information Deputy Conery read to Mr. Zimmerman would have been exactly the same irrespective of the OWI offense level.

Mr. Zimmerman asks this Court to conclude that Mr. Zimmerman believed he was subject to a specific set of defined penalties involving incarceration, fines, and license revocations, that are specific to the offense level of arrest, but there is no evidence to support that conclusion. The evidence in the record is that Mr. Zimmerman was made aware of the content of the Informing the Accused form, nothing more and nothing less, and that information is accurate irrespective of whether it is a third offense or second offense. Moreover, this information was factually true: there is no dispute Mr. Zimmerman had two prior OWI convictions on his record. Thus, considering the totality of

the circumstances, Mr. Zimmerman was not misinformed nor misled.

d. Has the Failure to Properly Inform the Driver Affected His or Her Ability to Make the Choice About Chemical Testing?

For the reasons outlined in Subsection C above, Deputy Conery's statement at arrest did not affect Mr. Zimmerman's ability to make a choice about chemical testing as he was correctly advised of the offense level.

CONCLUSION

Mr. Zimmerman was correctly charged with Operating While Intoxicated as a Third Offense as the statute clearly states that convictions under Wis. Stat.§§ 940.09(1) and 940.25 are to be counted for a person's lifetime. Because Mr. Zimmerman was correctly charged with a third offense, Deputy Conery did not advise Mr. Zimmerman of any misleading information when he asked Mr. Zimmerman to submit to a chemical test and Mr. Zimmerman refused. Therefore, the State respectfully requests that this Court affirm the Trial Court's ruling with regards to both issues presented.